## ALA Editions • SPECIAL REPORTS

# **GRANT MONEY** THROUGH COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

# NANCY KALIKOW MAXWELL

www.alastore.ala.org

# GRANT MONEY THROUGH COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

NANCY KALIKOW MAXWELL

AMERICAN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION

Chicago 2012

www.alastore.ala.org

# GRANT MONEY THROUGH COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

NANCY KALIKOW MAXWELL

AMERICAN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION

Chicago 2012

www.alastore.ala.org

In her thirty-year library career, **Nancy Kalikow Maxwell** has participated in successful grant projects totaling more than ten million dollars, with more than one million of those dollars flowing directly to the library. Formerly library director at Miami Dade College and Barry University, Maxwell currently owns and operates Kaliwell, Inc. (www.librarygrants.org), a grant development company that specializes in locating, writing, and evaluating grants for libraries and other educational organizations. A prolific writer, Maxwell has been published in the *National Catholic Reporter, Jewish Forward, Lilith, Moment,* and other periodicals. Her library publishing credits include the best seller *Sacred Stacks: The Higher Purpose of Libraries and Librarianship* (2006) and, as a contributor, *Writing and Publishing: The Librarian's Handbook* (2010) and *Librarians as Community Partners: An Outreach Handbook* (2010). A frequent contributor to *American Libraries* magazine, she has also authored two ALA Techsource *Library Technology Reports*. Maxwell can be reached at kaliwell@kaliwellinc.com.

© 2012 by the American Library Association. Any claim of copyright is subject to applicable limitations and exceptions, such as rights of fair use and library copying pursuant to Sections 107 and 108 of the U.S. Copyright Act. No copyright is claimed in content that is in the public domain, such as works of the U.S. government.

Printed in the United States of America

16 15 14 13 12 5 4 3 2 1

Extensive effort has gone into ensuring the reliability of the information in this book; however, the publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

ISBNs: 978-0-8389-1159-4 (paper); 978-0-8389-9457-3 (PDF); 978-0-8389-9458-0 (ePUB); 978-0-8389-9459-7 (Kindle). For more information on digital formats, visit the ALA Store at alastore.ala.org and select eEditions.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012010054

Series cover design by Casey Bayer. Series text design in Palatino Linotype and Avenir by Karen Sheets de Gracia.

© This paper meets the requirements of ANSI/NISO Z39.48-1992 (Permanence of Paper).

## CONTENTS

Acknowledgments vii

1	Introduction 1
2	<b>Grant Development and Libraries</b> 7
3	<b>Finding Grant Developers for Collaboration</b> 17
4	Working with Grant Developers 29
5	<b>Research—The Librarian's Secret Weapon</b> 35
6	<b>Incorporating the Library into Grant Proposals</b> 43
7	How the Library Can Support Grant Projects 49
8	Partnerships and Beyond 55
9	<b>Grant-Writing Careers for Librarians</b> 63
10	Conclusion 69
	Afterword 75
	Selected Bibliography and Additional Sources 79
	Index 83

# 1 INTRODUCTION

roan. Not another book on library grants. Here you are struggling to run your library with 40 percent less than you received last year (and you are thankful you got that). The three-year hiring freeze has chilled your relationship with the staff to the point that even the ones who like you are grumbling. You want to retire, but the financial meltdown frizzled your funds to nothing. And now you are supposed to write grants. Fat chance, you say.

Save your disgruntlement for something more important—like getting a vanilla latte when you ordered chai tea. This book is not going to guilt-trip you over not bringing in grant money. And you won't be toiling over a tedious grant proposal, either. Instead, you will learn how to watch others do the toiling. Not that you'll be sitting back and doing nothing, but at least you'll benefit from the work of others who are writing grants. In this book, librarians will learn how to infiltrate the grant development process of other organizations and garner grant funds through them.

The idea for this book—like so much of life—came through happenstance. Though I am a highly successful grant writer—having helped bring in more than ten million dollars in grant funding for my library and college—my initial efforts at grant writing were failures. Lots of failures, if you must know.

But I persevered. After many grant-writing workshops and more disastrous grant attempts, I finally crafted my first successful proposal. The USDA—of all places—approved a grant for more than \$150,000 to improve the science resources and services at my community college library.

My successful proposal not only garnered much-needed library materials but also elicited praise from the campus administrative dean. Personally, I was more interested in pleasing the dean than improving library resources, but it was nice to have accomplished both.

"You did an outstanding job with the USDA grant proposal," she wrote in an e-mail. "I was very impressed when I finished reading the entire proposal." Her compliment made my day, but what followed turned out to be of more lasting import.

"We are now working on a Title V grant," she explained. "A grant writing company has been hired to assist us. They have a lot of experience, but they will be requiring information from us periodically."<sup>1</sup>

#### *They will be requiring information from us periodically.*

That sentence changed the course of the library and my career. From those few words, I was able to participate in grant proposals netting more than ten million dollars to the college, with one million going directly to the library. Even better, I was able to write the book which you now hold in your hand (or view on your screen).

They will be requiring information from us periodically has become my maxim.

The need for information brought me to the grant table, where I was able to insert library funding into the grants under development. Being at the table made all the difference.

I am far from the first person to realize the importance of being where the action is, where money is discussed and divvied. The late visionary and library science professor Kathleen de la Peña McCook came to the same conclusion more than ten years ago. *A Place at the Table* she titled her plea, urging librarians to be present when decisions are made to build lasting communities.<sup>2</sup>

Years before McCook's book was published, two other librarian-authors—Patricia Senn Breivik and E. Burr Gibson—exhorted librarians to insinuate themselves into the process of garnering new funds from others.

"The library is uniquely suited to fare well in cooperative projects," they explained. "Library services and resources can be clearly shown in support of almost any aspect or program." However, the trick is to get the library included—either formally or informally—in the process. How reassuring, if not a little depressing, to find this suggestion in a 1979 ALA book entitled *Funding Alternatives for Libraries*.<sup>3</sup> Yes, we have been talking about finding other sources of revenue for decades.

### LIBRARIES BRING IN MONEY

Libraries deserve to benefit financially from the work of others. As recent data shows, libraries contribute mightily to the economic value of those they serve. According to a study by the University of Pennsylvania, the Free Library of Philadelphia improved the economic value of the communities it served by more than \$31 million.<sup>4</sup> Six million of those dollars resulted from workforce development activities, \$3.8 million from business development activities, and the rest from improving reading and literacy skills.

The study also showed that, in Philadelphia, homes within a quarter mile of a library are worth \$9,000 more than homes outside this range. Evidently, homeowners wanting to boost the value of their homes would be better off lobbying for a library branch in their neighborhood than upgrading their kitchen.

Though libraries are economic engines for their surrounding communities, they have yet to capitalize on their impact. The root problem, according to Steve Coffman, vice president at the library consulting firm LSSI (Library Systems and Services), is that the public library "is one of the few cultural or educational institutions to remain almost entirely dependent on local and state tax dollars." While museums, theaters, and zoos have diversified their revenue streams, libraries have yet to tap what he calls "plural funding," through gifts, fundraising, and foundations.<sup>5</sup>

Along with Coffman's suggestions, this book proposes another potential stream of funding for libraries to tap. By exploiting one of its greatest strengths—research ability—libraries can maneuver to the grant development table. For many librarians, conducting research is preferable to soliciting major gifts or forming a nonprofit to raise funds. Once at the table to present their results, they can divert some of the forthcoming funds to the library. The rest of this book provides instructions on how to go about accomplishing this.

### HOW LIBRARIANS AND GRANT DEVELOPERS CAN HELP EACH OTHER: AN OVERVIEW

### How Grant Developers Can Help Librarians

### More Funding for the Library

Libraries can earn additional funds by being included in the grant development process of others. These funds could be used for library materials, equipment, staff, or programs. Or best of all, they could go directly into the library's general coffers for the library to use as it sees fit.

Of course, there is no guarantee a proposal will be successful. Even the most perfectly crafted applications are often turned down. As Stephen Seward, philanthropy director at the Nature Conservancy, notes, successful grant writing can seem like winning the lottery because it appears so illogical.<sup>6</sup>

It may look as if grants are awarded at random, but techniques and strategies exist to improve one's chances of success. Libraries can play a huge role increasing a grant's chances. As discussed below, libraries can help identify exactly the right grant opportunity for the applying institution. They can dramatically improve the proposal with solid research data. The librarian can keep the group on track and working within deadline. The library can create a new library activity or service, thereby improving the proposal along with the library. Once funds are appropriated, the library can help administer or evaluate portions of the project. Any of these avenues would improve the grant, potentially bringing in more funds to both the nonprofit organization and the library.

### Strengthened Organizational Relationships

Even if the grant is not successful and no funds are awarded, the process of working with another organization to craft a grant proposal will enhance the relationship between the library staff and grant developer. Grant development usually includes intense, fevered work concentrated into a short span of time. Frequent meetings—via phone or e-mail, or face-to-face—are required to develop plans, share information, and review drafts. Assuming the library representative participating is congenial and effective (hopefully a correct assumption), the end result will be an enhanced relationship with the grant-seeking organization. Even if the initial venture is not successful, the next grant the organization embarks upon may include a library component, which could result in additional library funding.

### Confidence to Develop Library Grants

When asked why they don't write grants, many librarians report the task is too daunting. The verb *daunt* (who knew that was a verb?) means "to drain the courage of, to intimidate or to dishearten"—an apt description of how many librarians feel when confronting a forty-page grant request-for-proposal due in three weeks. One book on the topic is called *Demystifying Grant Seeking*,<sup>7</sup> a title that suggests an unknowable, almost otherworldly pursuit.

After more than fifteen major grant initiatives, I still get a pit in my stomach when I review a new grant announcement. I can only imagine the aversion those not familiar with grant development must experience when contemplating the endeavor. Daunting, indeed.

But participating in someone else's grant provides an opportunity to learn the process without bearing the brunt of responsibility for the entire undertaking. Learning through observation—and participating on a more limited basis—allows neophytes to gain the confidence to undertake their own grant-writing projects in the future.

### How Librarians Can Help Grant Developers

It is easy to see how new library funding, improved relationships, and grant-writing confidence benefit the library. What is less obvious is how the grant developer can benefit from the participation of the library. Though these benefits can be substantial, they usually go unrecognized. The burden, then, lies with the librarian to prove it. To use the business parlance of the day, libraries must convince others (and themselves) that they add value to the grant development process.

### Research, Research, Research

All grants need some form of research to support the proposal. The ability of librarians to locate information will endear library professionals to grant developers forever. I do not use the word *endear* lightly. Many a reference librarian can recount an exuberant reaction to information they have produced.

Though it was years ago, I still remember one student's passionate response when I helped him locate information he was seeking. Standing over him at the computer, I suggested he try a combination of terms for his search. When he saw the citations that he needed appear, he bolted from his chair, grabbed my shoulders, and kissed me.

I have yet to be similarly embraced at any grant development meetings, but the presentation of data has often been met with the same kind of enthusiasm. When I distributed a copy of employment projections at one meeting, a faculty member kissed his fingers, saluted, and pronounced (in a fake foreign accent), "This is exactamente what we need." Not exactly a smooch, but it felt good nonetheless.

#### Ready-Made Collaborative Partner

Libraries also bring to grant developers an organization to partner with. The trend in government granting and philanthropic giving is to require collaborative partners. To maximize effectiveness (known in plain English as getting more bang for the buck), many new funding sources require that more than one organization be included in and benefit from the project.

Making matters even worse for grant developers, announcements of grants requiring partners are often released with extremely tight deadlines. Because there isn't sufficient time to both find a partner and create a solid proposal, many grant developers simply pass on the possibility of applying for funding.

By simply being there as part of the process, the library could serve as the required partner. Much like those classic old movies where the beautiful young starlet comes into the

room at exactly the right moment, libraries could have their moment in the spotlight just by being in the right place at the right time.

### Source of Last-Minute Expenditures

Libraries could save the day by spending money!

To be deemed successful, grant-funded projects must not only attain the goals and objectives of the stated project but also spend all of the allocated funds within the granting period. One of the most egregious sins that a grant administrator can commit is to return unused funds to the granting agency. I have known more than one grant administrator who was terminated because large sums of grant funds went unexpended.

Libraries offer grant-funded projects an easy avenue to expend unused funds. Library materials can be purchased quickly and in varying amounts that would help out the grant project while also improving the library.

### Stronger Relationship with the Library

Just as stronger relationships between collaborative partners benefit the library, so do they further the goals of the grant-developing organization. It is hard to imagine a nonprofit group, educational institution, hospital, or other organization that would not be improved through collaboration with a library. By availing themselves of library resources, services, publicity, and programming, such organizations will be able to fulfill their missions through closer interactions with the libraries that serve them.

Let's now look at the grant development process in more detail to see how organizations can work together and libraries can benefit from other people's money.

### NOTES

- 1. Cristina Mateo, e-mail message to author, January 27, 2006.
- 2. Kathleen de la Peña McCook, A Place at the Table: Participating in Community Building (Chicago: American Library Association, 2000), 4.
- 3. Patricia Senn Breivik and E. Burr Gibson, "Operating within a Parent Institution," in *Funding Alternatives for Libraries*, ed. Breivik and Gibson (Chicago: American Library Association, 1979), 125.
- 4. Fels Research and Consulting, University of Pennsylvania, Fels Institute of Government, *The Economic Value of the Free Library in Philadelphia*, October 21, 2010.
- Steve Coffman, as quoted in Irene E. McDermott, "Get Outta Here and Get Me Some Money, Too," Searcher 14, no. 7 (July/August 2006): 13–17.
- 6. Stephen Seward, as quoted in Judith B. Margolin and Gail T. Lubin, eds., *The Foundation Center's Guide to Winning Proposals II* (New York: Foundation Center, 2005), viii.
- Larissa Golden Brown and Martin John Brown, Demystifying Grant Seeking (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2001).

## INDEX

## Α

activities, grant component, 10 - 11administrative costs, 48 administrator, grant team member role, 30 Advanced Certified Fundraising Executive (ACFRE), 67 advisory committees, 22, 76 Alliance of Information and Referral Systems (AIRS), 22 American Evaluation Association, 21 American Grant Writer's Association (AGWA), 20, 67 American Library Association (ALA), 57 announcements for grants, 11 applications, collaboration and, 60 approval, importance of, 61 articles, publicizing and, 51 assessment of program, 50 Association of American Grant Professionals, 19 Association of Fundraising Professionals (AFP), 20, 67 Association of Healthcare Philanthropy, 67 associations, as partner, 57 audits, internal and external, 60 award winners, 20, 71 awards, grant sizes and, 8

### В

bilingual storytime (success story), 71 biographical paragraphs or resumes, 12 Block, Marylaine, 24, 35, 72 boards, as grant resource, 22–23 book vendors and distributors, 52 Breivik, Patricia Senn, 2, 61 Buckets of Books (success story), 71 budgets development of, 45 expenditures and, 52, 76 finance experts, team member role, 30 grant component, 11 narrative for, 45–46 spending allocations, 51–52

## С

camp collaborations, 71 career development, grants and, 40 careers, grant-writing types, 63-67 Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (database), 37 Center for Non-Profit Excellence (success story), 70 certifications, grant professional, 67 Certified Fund Raising Executive (CFRE), 67 Certified Grant Writer (credential), 67 Changing Lives through Literature Program (success story), 71 children's activities, grants and, 48 citizen boards, 23 civic associations, as grant resources, 33 classes, grant-writing, 70-71 Clay, Joy A., 30 coalitions, subject-specific, 22 Coffman, Steve, 2 collaborating activities and, 10 applications and, 60 approaching potential partners, 57-58 continued success of, 71-73

creating partnerships, 35 finding developers, 17-27 libraries and, 56-57 MOU and, 59 needs-based, 23-24 partnerships, 7-8, 53, 76 precautions, 60-61 reasons for, 55-56 school and camp, 71 committees advisory, 22, 76 grants policy, 67 internal review, 50 communities of opportunity office, 56 community development corps, as partners, 57 community initiatives, as partners, 57 Community Issues 101 (forum), 71 conferences, publicizing and, 51 confidentiality and grants, 41 contact logs, 19 content expert, team member role, 30 contract organizations, 19 contributions, in-kind, 49-53 Cooke, Eileen, 32 Cooperating Collections, 17 core collection online resources, 18 corporate grants, 7, 8 Corporate Philanthropy Report, 38 costs, indirect, 48 cross-institutional partnerships, mandating, 50 Crowther, Janet L., 35, 56

## D

data collection of, 9 examples of, 40 as need support, 11, 39 databases, grant types, 37–38

### department and individual involvement, 9 design teams, 29 developers in libraries, 17–19 locating services, 19–22 organizations of, 19 development steps (grant phase), 9 direct-mail campaign, publicizing, 51 direct support, 45–48 directories and listings, 38 Disney Institute, 56 Domestic Violence Education Project (success story), 71

### Ε

economic development, grants and, 40 editing and writing assistance, 25 editors, team member role, 30 Education Grants Alert, 38 elderly services, 23 empowerment zones, as grant resource, 22 Encyclopedia of Associations, 21 ethical funding agency personnel, 21 evaluations assistance for, 76 grant component, 12-13 of organizations, 19 programs for, 50 evaluators, 21 event sponsorship, 51 expenditures, 5, 52, 76

### F

federal economic development grant criteria, 39 federal education grant criteria, 12, 39 Federal Grants and Contracts Weekly, 38 federal library grant activity criteria, 10 Federal Register (database), 37 fee-based resources, 36 financial commitments, MOU and, 59 financial support, 48-49 Florida International University (Miami), 69 Ford Foundation, 56

formal approval, importance of, 61 formats, MOU and, 59 Foundation and Corporate Grants Alert, 38 Foundation Center Cooperating Collections, 8, 10, 17-18 Foundation Directory Online (database), 18, 37 Foundation Grants to Individuals (database), 7, 18, 37 Free Library of Philadelphia (Pennsylvania), 2 Fu, Jennifer, 69 Fuerst, Cynthia, 72 full-time opportunities, grant careers, 65-66 funding asking for, 44-45 bringing in, 2–5 receiving (post-award), 10 spending allotted, 51-52 unused, 5 Funding Alternatives for Libraries (ALA), 2 Funding Research Center, 70 future of grant collaboration, 71-73

## G

geographic coalitions, 22 Gibson, E. Burr, 2, 61 GIS (geographic information system), 41, 69 goals, collaboration and, 61 governing agencies, as grant resource, 22 government grants, 7 grant administrator, team member role, 30 grant developers aiding identification, 76 aiding librarians, 3-4 individuals as, 33 partnering with, 4-5 as professionals, 13 working with, 29-34 grant development groups and, 25 locating sources, 37 process of, 7-14 proposals, 3-4, 10-13 requirements for, 7-9 Grant Professional Association (GPA), 19-20, 65 Grant Professional Certification Institute (GPCI), 67

grant success examples, 69–72 grant writing career requirements, 63-64 careers, 63–67 defined, 9 future of, 73 workshops (success story), 70 - 71granting agency, returning funds to, 5 GrantNavigator (database), 37 grantors, approaching, 24–26 grants components of, 10-13 confidence developing, 3-4 departments for, 23 evaluators, 21 library-enhanced services, 76 time constraints, 33-34 types and sizes, 7-8 Grants Policy Committee, 67 GrantsAlert (database), 37-38 Grants.gov (database), 37 GrantStation (database), 37 Gross, Valerie J., 56, 61 groups dynamics of, 30-31 identifying, 26 GuideStar (database), 38

## Η

Health Grants & Contracts Weekly, 38 Heiderscheidt, Barbara, 70 Heroff, Doris Jean Ann, 71 Holt, Glen E., 56 Huntington Public Library (New York), 25

## L

in-kind contributions, 49 income expectations, 65 indirect costs defined, 48 entitlement to, 60 indirect support, defined, 48 individual or private grants, 7 information gathering system, 19 Institute of Museums and Library Services, 71 internal review committees, 50

### J

journal articles, publicizing and, 51

## L

Landau, Herbert B., 7 leader, team member role, 30 lectures, grants and, 48 legislative hearing testifiers, as grant resource, 22 legislators, as grant resource, 22-23 Levinson, Jay Conrad, 35 library-based research, 36 library collaboration, activities and, 10 library-enhanced grant services, 76 Library/Learning Centers (Foundation Center), 17 library support types, 49-53 Library System and Services (LSSI), 2–3 listings and directories, 38 Long, Sarah Ann, 56

### Μ

managing organizations, 19 Margolin, Judith B., 10 material support, 46-50 McCook, Kathleen de la Peña, 2, 69,72 median grant awards, 8 meetings, scheduling, 58 member considerations, 31-32 memorandum of understanding (MOU), 59 Migrant Education Program (success story), 70 mission, partnerships and, 61 mission creep, 8-9 monetary support, 45-46 monitoring formats, MOU and, 59

### Ν

narrative, grant component, 11 National Agricultural Library (Miami), 70 National Award for Museum and Library Service, 71 National Science Foundation, 8, 11–13, 69 needs-based collaborations, 23–24 needs identification, 9 needs statement grant component, 11–12 locating research, 38–39 research for, 76 neighborhood councils, as grant resource, 22 news releases, publicizing and, 51 Nielsen, Therese Purcell, 25 Non-Profit Information and **Resources Project (success** story), 70 nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), 21 nonprofit centers, library-based, 70 Nonprofit Management Certificate Program (Duke University), 70-71 nonprofit organizations, 21-23 nonprofit publishers, 38 Nonprofit Resource Center (NC), 70 - 71Norris-Tirrell, Dorothy, 30

## 0

office equipment, budgets for, 47–48 officers, grant program, 20–21 officials local, town, and county, 23 newly appointed, 58 online resources, 18, 36 opportunities, awareness of, 72 organizations joining, 19–20 locating, 21–23 service alignment, 9 outcomes and evaluation, grant component, 12–13 overhead, cost and, 48

## Ρ

panel presentations, grants and, 48 parameters, establishing, 43-44 parent-teacher associations, 23 part-time opportunities, 65-66 participants, responsibility and obligation, MOU and, 59 partners agencies, team member role, 30 approaching, 57-59 cautions regarding, 60-61 collaborative, 4-5 projects needing, 23-24 purchasing, 55 researching, 9 personnel defined, 12 ethical funding agency, 21 grant component, 12

phases, development of grant, 8 - 10philanthropic liaison, office of, 56 A Place at the Table (McCook), 2 post-award (grant phase), 9-10, 14 pre-award (grant phase), 8-9, 14 precautions when collaborating, 60-61 preparation for request, 43-44 primary fiscal agent, defined, 60 private or individual grants, 7 programs evaluations of, 50 hosting, 51 provisions for, 48 publicizing, 50-51 projects activities and services, 76 directors for, 12 housing considerations, 51 partners and, 23 post-award considerations, 10 team considerations, 29 proofreaders librarians as, 25 team member role as, 30 proposals development phase, 9, 14 locating previous, 38 Puacz, Jeanne Holba, 70 public policy use, collaboration and, 24 publicity, grant component, 12 publicizing grant (post-award), 10 publicizing programs, 50-51 publishers, nonprofit, 38

## Q

quality of personnel, 12

## R

record-keeping, importance of, 60 recorder, team member role, 30 reference desks, as resources, 18–19 referral clearinghouses, 21–22 relationships, strengthening, 3 Renninger, Phyl, 29, 41, 55 renovations, grants and, 46–47 request for proposal (RFP), 9–13, 43–44 requirements, grant consideration, 9 research grants and, 4, 25 librarians and, 35–41

research (cont.) library-based center, 69 locating grant sources, 36 skills and abilities, 35-36 supporting needs statement, 38-39 research center, library-based (success story), 69 researcher, versus subject expert, 40 - 41resources, grant developer, 17-18 responsibilities, defining, 61 resumes or biographical paragraphs, 12 reviews committees for, 50 process of, 13 team member role, 21 risk taking, importance of, 72 round tables, nonprofit, 23

### S

salary expectations, 65 school collaborations, 71 service recipients, team member role, 30 services, collaborative, 35 Seward, Stephen, 3 skills, career, 63–64 sources, locating, 9 spending considerations, 10, 51–52 staff support, 47, 48 standards, government-wide grants and, 67 state library grant, publicity example, 12–13 state workforce development grant criteria, 39 STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics), 24, 39 Stinson, Karen, 29, 41, 55 strategic partners, identifying, 9 strategic planning, 9 structure, MOU and, 59 subject expert, versus library researcher, 40-41 summary, grant component, 13 support types, 45-48 sustainability, grant component, 13 surveys, conducting, 58-59

## Т

team members, roles and characteristics, 30–31, 44 team writing careers, 66 teams, grant development types, 29–30 technology assistant, team member role, 30 *The Thriving Library* (Block), 24 time considerations, 33–34, 59 timekeeper, team member role, 30 Tocqueville, Alexis de, 19 Training and Certification Work Group, 67 travel budgets, 47–48 Trott, Barry, 35, 56 tutoring, grants and, 40

### U

United Way, 21, 23 U.S. Chief Financial Officers Council, 67 U.S. Department of Education, 8 U.S. Homeland Security grant, budget example, 11 USA Government Grants (database), 38 USDA, libraries and, 70

## V

vendors, as grant resource, 23 Vigo County Public Library (IN), 70 volunteer opportunities, 66

### W

Williamsburg (VA) Community Health Foundation, 70 Winning Library Grants: A Game Plan (Landau), 7 writers, team member role, 30 writing and editing assistance, 25 Writing for a Good Cause, 36 writing organizations, 19

# You may also be interested in



# alastore.ala.org





AMERICAN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION / alastore.ala.org 50 E. Huron Street, Chicago, IL 60611 1 (866) SHOPALA (866) 746-7252 In her thirty-year library career, **Nancy Kalikow Maxwell** has participated in successful grant projects totaling more than ten million dollars, with more than one million of those dollars flowing directly to the library. Formerly library director at Miami Dade College and Barry University, Maxwell currently owns and operates Kaliwell, Inc. (www.librarygrants.org), a grant development company that specializes in locating, writing, and evaluating grants for libraries and other educational organizations. A prolific writer, Maxwell has been published in the *National Catholic Reporter, Jewish Forward, Lilith, Moment,* and other periodicals. Her library publishing credits include the best seller *Sacred Stacks: The Higher Purpose of Libraries and Librarianship* (2006) and, as a contributor, *Writing and Publishing: The Librarian's Handbook* (2010) and *Librarians as Community Partners: An Outreach Handbook* (2010). A frequent contributor to *American Libraries* magazine, she has also authored two ALA Techsource *Library Technology Reports*. Maxwell can be reached at kaliwell@kaliwellinc.com.

© 2012 by the American Library Association. Any claim of copyright is subject to applicable limitations and exceptions, such as rights of fair use and library copying pursuant to Sections 107 and 108 of the U.S. Copyright Act. No copyright is claimed in content that is in the public domain, such as works of the U.S. government.

Printed in the United States of America

16 15 14 13 12 5 4 3 2 1

Extensive effort has gone into ensuring the reliability of the information in this book; however, the publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

ISBNs: 978-0-8389-1159-4 (paper); 978-0-8389-9457-3 (PDF); 978-0-8389-9458-0 (ePUB); 978-0-8389-9459-7 (Kindle). For more information on digital formats, visit the ALA Store at alastore.ala.org and select eEditions.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012010054

Series cover design by Casey Bayer. Series text design in Palatino Linotype and Avenir by Karen Sheets de Gracia.

© This paper meets the requirements of ANSI/NISO Z39.48-1992 (Permanence of Paper).

## CONTENTS

Acknowledgments vii

1	Introduction 1
2	<b>Grant Development and Libraries</b> 7
3	<b>Finding Grant Developers for Collaboration</b> 17
4	Working with Grant Developers 29
5	<b>Research—The Librarian's Secret Weapon</b> 35
6	<b>Incorporating the Library into Grant Proposals</b> 43
7	How the Library Can Support Grant Projects 49
8	Partnerships and Beyond 55
9	<b>Grant-Writing Careers for Librarians</b> 63
10	Conclusion 69
	Afterword 75
	Selected Bibliography and Additional Sources 79
	Index 83

# 1 INTRODUCTION

roan. Not another book on library grants. Here you are struggling to run your library with 40 percent less than you received last year (and you are thankful you got that). The three-year hiring freeze has chilled your relationship with the staff to the point that even the ones who like you are grumbling. You want to retire, but the financial meltdown frizzled your funds to nothing. And now you are supposed to write grants. Fat chance, you say.

Save your disgruntlement for something more important—like getting a vanilla latte when you ordered chai tea. This book is not going to guilt-trip you over not bringing in grant money. And you won't be toiling over a tedious grant proposal, either. Instead, you will learn how to watch others do the toiling. Not that you'll be sitting back and doing nothing, but at least you'll benefit from the work of others who are writing grants. In this book, librarians will learn how to infiltrate the grant development process of other organizations and garner grant funds through them.

The idea for this book—like so much of life—came through happenstance. Though I am a highly successful grant writer—having helped bring in more than ten million dollars in grant funding for my library and college—my initial efforts at grant writing were failures. Lots of failures, if you must know.

But I persevered. After many grant-writing workshops and more disastrous grant attempts, I finally crafted my first successful proposal. The USDA—of all places—approved a grant for more than \$150,000 to improve the science resources and services at my community college library.

My successful proposal not only garnered much-needed library materials but also elicited praise from the campus administrative dean. Personally, I was more interested in pleasing the dean than improving library resources, but it was nice to have accomplished both.

"You did an outstanding job with the USDA grant proposal," she wrote in an e-mail. "I was very impressed when I finished reading the entire proposal." Her compliment made my day, but what followed turned out to be of more lasting import.

"We are now working on a Title V grant," she explained. "A grant writing company has been hired to assist us. They have a lot of experience, but they will be requiring information from us periodically."<sup>1</sup>

#### *They will be requiring information from us periodically.*

That sentence changed the course of the library and my career. From those few words, I was able to participate in grant proposals netting more than ten million dollars to the college, with one million going directly to the library. Even better, I was able to write the book which you now hold in your hand (or view on your screen).

They will be requiring information from us periodically has become my maxim.

The need for information brought me to the grant table, where I was able to insert library funding into the grants under development. Being at the table made all the difference.

I am far from the first person to realize the importance of being where the action is, where money is discussed and divvied. The late visionary and library science professor Kathleen de la Peña McCook came to the same conclusion more than ten years ago. *A Place at the Table* she titled her plea, urging librarians to be present when decisions are made to build lasting communities.<sup>2</sup>

Years before McCook's book was published, two other librarian-authors—Patricia Senn Breivik and E. Burr Gibson—exhorted librarians to insinuate themselves into the process of garnering new funds from others.

"The library is uniquely suited to fare well in cooperative projects," they explained. "Library services and resources can be clearly shown in support of almost any aspect or program." However, the trick is to get the library included—either formally or informally—in the process. How reassuring, if not a little depressing, to find this suggestion in a 1979 ALA book entitled *Funding Alternatives for Libraries*.<sup>3</sup> Yes, we have been talking about finding other sources of revenue for decades.

### LIBRARIES BRING IN MONEY

Libraries deserve to benefit financially from the work of others. As recent data shows, libraries contribute mightily to the economic value of those they serve. According to a study by the University of Pennsylvania, the Free Library of Philadelphia improved the economic value of the communities it served by more than \$31 million.<sup>4</sup> Six million of those dollars resulted from workforce development activities, \$3.8 million from business development activities, and the rest from improving reading and literacy skills.

The study also showed that, in Philadelphia, homes within a quarter mile of a library are worth \$9,000 more than homes outside this range. Evidently, homeowners wanting to boost the value of their homes would be better off lobbying for a library branch in their neighborhood than upgrading their kitchen.

Though libraries are economic engines for their surrounding communities, they have yet to capitalize on their impact. The root problem, according to Steve Coffman, vice president at the library consulting firm LSSI (Library Systems and Services), is that the public library "is one of the few cultural or educational institutions to remain almost entirely dependent on local and state tax dollars." While museums, theaters, and zoos have diversified their revenue streams, libraries have yet to tap what he calls "plural funding," through gifts, fundraising, and foundations.<sup>5</sup>

Along with Coffman's suggestions, this book proposes another potential stream of funding for libraries to tap. By exploiting one of its greatest strengths—research ability—libraries can maneuver to the grant development table. For many librarians, conducting research is preferable to soliciting major gifts or forming a nonprofit to raise funds. Once at the table to present their results, they can divert some of the forthcoming funds to the library. The rest of this book provides instructions on how to go about accomplishing this.

### HOW LIBRARIANS AND GRANT DEVELOPERS CAN HELP EACH OTHER: AN OVERVIEW

### How Grant Developers Can Help Librarians

### More Funding for the Library

Libraries can earn additional funds by being included in the grant development process of others. These funds could be used for library materials, equipment, staff, or programs. Or best of all, they could go directly into the library's general coffers for the library to use as it sees fit.

Of course, there is no guarantee a proposal will be successful. Even the most perfectly crafted applications are often turned down. As Stephen Seward, philanthropy director at the Nature Conservancy, notes, successful grant writing can seem like winning the lottery because it appears so illogical.<sup>6</sup>

It may look as if grants are awarded at random, but techniques and strategies exist to improve one's chances of success. Libraries can play a huge role increasing a grant's chances. As discussed below, libraries can help identify exactly the right grant opportunity for the applying institution. They can dramatically improve the proposal with solid research data. The librarian can keep the group on track and working within deadline. The library can create a new library activity or service, thereby improving the proposal along with the library. Once funds are appropriated, the library can help administer or evaluate portions of the project. Any of these avenues would improve the grant, potentially bringing in more funds to both the nonprofit organization and the library.

### Strengthened Organizational Relationships

Even if the grant is not successful and no funds are awarded, the process of working with another organization to craft a grant proposal will enhance the relationship between the library staff and grant developer. Grant development usually includes intense, fevered work concentrated into a short span of time. Frequent meetings—via phone or e-mail, or face-to-face—are required to develop plans, share information, and review drafts. Assuming the library representative participating is congenial and effective (hopefully a correct assumption), the end result will be an enhanced relationship with the grant-seeking organization. Even if the initial venture is not successful, the next grant the organization embarks upon may include a library component, which could result in additional library funding.

### Confidence to Develop Library Grants

When asked why they don't write grants, many librarians report the task is too daunting. The verb *daunt* (who knew that was a verb?) means "to drain the courage of, to intimidate or to dishearten"—an apt description of how many librarians feel when confronting a forty-page grant request-for-proposal due in three weeks. One book on the topic is called *Demystifying Grant Seeking*,<sup>7</sup> a title that suggests an unknowable, almost otherworldly pursuit.

After more than fifteen major grant initiatives, I still get a pit in my stomach when I review a new grant announcement. I can only imagine the aversion those not familiar with grant development must experience when contemplating the endeavor. Daunting, indeed.

But participating in someone else's grant provides an opportunity to learn the process without bearing the brunt of responsibility for the entire undertaking. Learning through observation—and participating on a more limited basis—allows neophytes to gain the confidence to undertake their own grant-writing projects in the future.

### How Librarians Can Help Grant Developers

It is easy to see how new library funding, improved relationships, and grant-writing confidence benefit the library. What is less obvious is how the grant developer can benefit from the participation of the library. Though these benefits can be substantial, they usually go unrecognized. The burden, then, lies with the librarian to prove it. To use the business parlance of the day, libraries must convince others (and themselves) that they add value to the grant development process.

### Research, Research, Research

All grants need some form of research to support the proposal. The ability of librarians to locate information will endear library professionals to grant developers forever. I do not use the word *endear* lightly. Many a reference librarian can recount an exuberant reaction to information they have produced.

Though it was years ago, I still remember one student's passionate response when I helped him locate information he was seeking. Standing over him at the computer, I suggested he try a combination of terms for his search. When he saw the citations that he needed appear, he bolted from his chair, grabbed my shoulders, and kissed me.

I have yet to be similarly embraced at any grant development meetings, but the presentation of data has often been met with the same kind of enthusiasm. When I distributed a copy of employment projections at one meeting, a faculty member kissed his fingers, saluted, and pronounced (in a fake foreign accent), "This is exactamente what we need." Not exactly a smooch, but it felt good nonetheless.

#### Ready-Made Collaborative Partner

Libraries also bring to grant developers an organization to partner with. The trend in government granting and philanthropic giving is to require collaborative partners. To maximize effectiveness (known in plain English as getting more bang for the buck), many new funding sources require that more than one organization be included in and benefit from the project.

Making matters even worse for grant developers, announcements of grants requiring partners are often released with extremely tight deadlines. Because there isn't sufficient time to both find a partner and create a solid proposal, many grant developers simply pass on the possibility of applying for funding.

By simply being there as part of the process, the library could serve as the required partner. Much like those classic old movies where the beautiful young starlet comes into the

room at exactly the right moment, libraries could have their moment in the spotlight just by being in the right place at the right time.

### Source of Last-Minute Expenditures

Libraries could save the day by spending money!

To be deemed successful, grant-funded projects must not only attain the goals and objectives of the stated project but also spend all of the allocated funds within the granting period. One of the most egregious sins that a grant administrator can commit is to return unused funds to the granting agency. I have known more than one grant administrator who was terminated because large sums of grant funds went unexpended.

Libraries offer grant-funded projects an easy avenue to expend unused funds. Library materials can be purchased quickly and in varying amounts that would help out the grant project while also improving the library.

### Stronger Relationship with the Library

Just as stronger relationships between collaborative partners benefit the library, so do they further the goals of the grant-developing organization. It is hard to imagine a nonprofit group, educational institution, hospital, or other organization that would not be improved through collaboration with a library. By availing themselves of library resources, services, publicity, and programming, such organizations will be able to fulfill their missions through closer interactions with the libraries that serve them.

Let's now look at the grant development process in more detail to see how organizations can work together and libraries can benefit from other people's money.

### NOTES

- 1. Cristina Mateo, e-mail message to author, January 27, 2006.
- 2. Kathleen de la Peña McCook, A Place at the Table: Participating in Community Building (Chicago: American Library Association, 2000), 4.
- 3. Patricia Senn Breivik and E. Burr Gibson, "Operating within a Parent Institution," in *Funding Alternatives for Libraries*, ed. Breivik and Gibson (Chicago: American Library Association, 1979), 125.
- 4. Fels Research and Consulting, University of Pennsylvania, Fels Institute of Government, *The Economic Value of the Free Library in Philadelphia*, October 21, 2010.
- Steve Coffman, as quoted in Irene E. McDermott, "Get Outta Here and Get Me Some Money, Too," Searcher 14, no. 7 (July/August 2006): 13–17.
- 6. Stephen Seward, as quoted in Judith B. Margolin and Gail T. Lubin, eds., *The Foundation Center's Guide to Winning Proposals II* (New York: Foundation Center, 2005), viii.
- Larissa Golden Brown and Martin John Brown, Demystifying Grant Seeking (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2001).

## INDEX

## Α

activities, grant component, 10 - 11administrative costs, 48 administrator, grant team member role, 30 Advanced Certified Fundraising Executive (ACFRE), 67 advisory committees, 22, 76 Alliance of Information and Referral Systems (AIRS), 22 American Evaluation Association, 21 American Grant Writer's Association (AGWA), 20, 67 American Library Association (ALA), 57 announcements for grants, 11 applications, collaboration and, 60 approval, importance of, 61 articles, publicizing and, 51 assessment of program, 50 Association of American Grant Professionals, 19 Association of Fundraising Professionals (AFP), 20, 67 Association of Healthcare Philanthropy, 67 associations, as partner, 57 audits, internal and external, 60 award winners, 20, 71 awards, grant sizes and, 8

### В

bilingual storytime (success story), 71 biographical paragraphs or resumes, 12 Block, Marylaine, 24, 35, 72 boards, as grant resource, 22–23 book vendors and distributors, 52 Breivik, Patricia Senn, 2, 61 Buckets of Books (success story), 71 budgets development of, 45 expenditures and, 52, 76 finance experts, team member role, 30 grant component, 11 narrative for, 45–46 spending allocations, 51–52

## С

camp collaborations, 71 career development, grants and, 40 careers, grant-writing types, 63-67 Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (database), 37 Center for Non-Profit Excellence (success story), 70 certifications, grant professional, 67 Certified Fund Raising Executive (CFRE), 67 Certified Grant Writer (credential), 67 Changing Lives through Literature Program (success story), 71 children's activities, grants and, 48 citizen boards, 23 civic associations, as grant resources, 33 classes, grant-writing, 70-71 Clay, Joy A., 30 coalitions, subject-specific, 22 Coffman, Steve, 2 collaborating activities and, 10 applications and, 60 approaching potential partners, 57-58 continued success of, 71-73

creating partnerships, 35 finding developers, 17-27 libraries and, 56-57 MOU and, 59 needs-based, 23-24 partnerships, 7-8, 53, 76 precautions, 60-61 reasons for, 55-56 school and camp, 71 committees advisory, 22, 76 grants policy, 67 internal review, 50 communities of opportunity office, 56 community development corps, as partners, 57 community initiatives, as partners, 57 Community Issues 101 (forum), 71 conferences, publicizing and, 51 confidentiality and grants, 41 contact logs, 19 content expert, team member role, 30 contract organizations, 19 contributions, in-kind, 49-53 Cooke, Eileen, 32 Cooperating Collections, 17 core collection online resources, 18 corporate grants, 7, 8 Corporate Philanthropy Report, 38 costs, indirect, 48 cross-institutional partnerships, mandating, 50 Crowther, Janet L., 35, 56

## D

data collection of, 9 examples of, 40 as need support, 11, 39 databases, grant types, 37–38

### department and individual involvement, 9 design teams, 29 developers in libraries, 17–19 locating services, 19–22 organizations of, 19 development steps (grant phase), 9 direct-mail campaign, publicizing, 51 direct support, 45–48 directories and listings, 38 Disney Institute, 56 Domestic Violence Education Project (success story), 71

### Ε

economic development, grants and, 40 editing and writing assistance, 25 editors, team member role, 30 Education Grants Alert, 38 elderly services, 23 empowerment zones, as grant resource, 22 Encyclopedia of Associations, 21 ethical funding agency personnel, 21 evaluations assistance for, 76 grant component, 12-13 of organizations, 19 programs for, 50 evaluators, 21 event sponsorship, 51 expenditures, 5, 52, 76

### F

federal economic development grant criteria, 39 federal education grant criteria, 12, 39 Federal Grants and Contracts Weekly, 38 federal library grant activity criteria, 10 Federal Register (database), 37 fee-based resources, 36 financial commitments, MOU and, 59 financial support, 48-49 Florida International University (Miami), 69 Ford Foundation, 56

formal approval, importance of, 61 formats, MOU and, 59 Foundation and Corporate Grants Alert, 38 Foundation Center Cooperating Collections, 8, 10, 17-18 Foundation Directory Online (database), 18, 37 Foundation Grants to Individuals (database), 7, 18, 37 Free Library of Philadelphia (Pennsylvania), 2 Fu, Jennifer, 69 Fuerst, Cynthia, 72 full-time opportunities, grant careers, 65-66 funding asking for, 44-45 bringing in, 2–5 receiving (post-award), 10 spending allotted, 51-52 unused, 5 Funding Alternatives for Libraries (ALA), 2 Funding Research Center, 70 future of grant collaboration, 71-73

## G

geographic coalitions, 22 Gibson, E. Burr, 2, 61 GIS (geographic information system), 41, 69 goals, collaboration and, 61 governing agencies, as grant resource, 22 government grants, 7 grant administrator, team member role, 30 grant developers aiding identification, 76 aiding librarians, 3-4 individuals as, 33 partnering with, 4-5 as professionals, 13 working with, 29-34 grant development groups and, 25 locating sources, 37 process of, 7-14 proposals, 3-4, 10-13 requirements for, 7-9 Grant Professional Association (GPA), 19-20, 65 Grant Professional Certification Institute (GPCI), 67

grant success examples, 69–72 grant writing career requirements, 63-64 careers, 63–67 defined, 9 future of, 73 workshops (success story), 70 - 71granting agency, returning funds to, 5 GrantNavigator (database), 37 grantors, approaching, 24–26 grants components of, 10-13 confidence developing, 3-4 departments for, 23 evaluators, 21 library-enhanced services, 76 time constraints, 33-34 types and sizes, 7-8 Grants Policy Committee, 67 GrantsAlert (database), 37-38 Grants.gov (database), 37 GrantStation (database), 37 Gross, Valerie J., 56, 61 groups dynamics of, 30-31 identifying, 26 GuideStar (database), 38

## Η

Health Grants & Contracts Weekly, 38 Heiderscheidt, Barbara, 70 Heroff, Doris Jean Ann, 71 Holt, Glen E., 56 Huntington Public Library (New York), 25

## L

in-kind contributions, 49 income expectations, 65 indirect costs defined, 48 entitlement to, 60 indirect support, defined, 48 individual or private grants, 7 information gathering system, 19 Institute of Museums and Library Services, 71 internal review committees, 50

### J

journal articles, publicizing and, 51

## L

Landau, Herbert B., 7 leader, team member role, 30 lectures, grants and, 48 legislative hearing testifiers, as grant resource, 22 legislators, as grant resource, 22-23 Levinson, Jay Conrad, 35 library-based research, 36 library collaboration, activities and, 10 library-enhanced grant services, 76 Library/Learning Centers (Foundation Center), 17 library support types, 49-53 Library System and Services (LSSI), 2–3 listings and directories, 38 Long, Sarah Ann, 56

### Μ

managing organizations, 19 Margolin, Judith B., 10 material support, 46-50 McCook, Kathleen de la Peña, 2, 69,72 median grant awards, 8 meetings, scheduling, 58 member considerations, 31-32 memorandum of understanding (MOU), 59 Migrant Education Program (success story), 70 mission, partnerships and, 61 mission creep, 8-9 monetary support, 45-46 monitoring formats, MOU and, 59

### Ν

narrative, grant component, 11 National Agricultural Library (Miami), 70 National Award for Museum and Library Service, 71 National Science Foundation, 8, 11–13, 69 needs-based collaborations, 23–24 needs identification, 9 needs statement grant component, 11–12 locating research, 38–39 research for, 76 neighborhood councils, as grant resource, 22 news releases, publicizing and, 51 Nielsen, Therese Purcell, 25 Non-Profit Information and **Resources Project (success** story), 70 nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), 21 nonprofit centers, library-based, 70 Nonprofit Management Certificate Program (Duke University), 70-71 nonprofit organizations, 21-23 nonprofit publishers, 38 Nonprofit Resource Center (NC), 70 - 71Norris-Tirrell, Dorothy, 30

## 0

office equipment, budgets for, 47–48 officers, grant program, 20–21 officials local, town, and county, 23 newly appointed, 58 online resources, 18, 36 opportunities, awareness of, 72 organizations joining, 19–20 locating, 21–23 service alignment, 9 outcomes and evaluation, grant component, 12–13 overhead, cost and, 48

## Ρ

panel presentations, grants and, 48 parameters, establishing, 43-44 parent-teacher associations, 23 part-time opportunities, 65-66 participants, responsibility and obligation, MOU and, 59 partners agencies, team member role, 30 approaching, 57-59 cautions regarding, 60-61 collaborative, 4-5 projects needing, 23-24 purchasing, 55 researching, 9 personnel defined, 12 ethical funding agency, 21 grant component, 12

phases, development of grant, 8 - 10philanthropic liaison, office of, 56 A Place at the Table (McCook), 2 post-award (grant phase), 9-10, 14 pre-award (grant phase), 8-9, 14 precautions when collaborating, 60-61 preparation for request, 43-44 primary fiscal agent, defined, 60 private or individual grants, 7 programs evaluations of, 50 hosting, 51 provisions for, 48 publicizing, 50-51 projects activities and services, 76 directors for, 12 housing considerations, 51 partners and, 23 post-award considerations, 10 team considerations, 29 proofreaders librarians as, 25 team member role as, 30 proposals development phase, 9, 14 locating previous, 38 Puacz, Jeanne Holba, 70 public policy use, collaboration and, 24 publicity, grant component, 12 publicizing grant (post-award), 10 publicizing programs, 50-51 publishers, nonprofit, 38

## Q

quality of personnel, 12

## R

record-keeping, importance of, 60 recorder, team member role, 30 reference desks, as resources, 18–19 referral clearinghouses, 21–22 relationships, strengthening, 3 Renninger, Phyl, 29, 41, 55 renovations, grants and, 46–47 request for proposal (RFP), 9–13, 43–44 requirements, grant consideration, 9 research grants and, 4, 25 librarians and, 35–41

research (cont.) library-based center, 69 locating grant sources, 36 skills and abilities, 35-36 supporting needs statement, 38-39 research center, library-based (success story), 69 researcher, versus subject expert, 40 - 41resources, grant developer, 17-18 responsibilities, defining, 61 resumes or biographical paragraphs, 12 reviews committees for, 50 process of, 13 team member role, 21 risk taking, importance of, 72 round tables, nonprofit, 23

### S

salary expectations, 65 school collaborations, 71 service recipients, team member role, 30 services, collaborative, 35 Seward, Stephen, 3 skills, career, 63–64 sources, locating, 9 spending considerations, 10, 51–52 staff support, 47, 48 standards, government-wide grants and, 67 state library grant, publicity example, 12–13 state workforce development grant criteria, 39 STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics), 24, 39 Stinson, Karen, 29, 41, 55 strategic partners, identifying, 9 strategic planning, 9 structure, MOU and, 59 subject expert, versus library researcher, 40-41 summary, grant component, 13 support types, 45-48 sustainability, grant component, 13 surveys, conducting, 58-59

## Т

team members, roles and characteristics, 30–31, 44 team writing careers, 66 teams, grant development types, 29–30 technology assistant, team member role, 30 *The Thriving Library* (Block), 24 time considerations, 33–34, 59 timekeeper, team member role, 30 Tocqueville, Alexis de, 19 Training and Certification Work Group, 67 travel budgets, 47–48 Trott, Barry, 35, 56 tutoring, grants and, 40

### U

United Way, 21, 23 U.S. Chief Financial Officers Council, 67 U.S. Department of Education, 8 U.S. Homeland Security grant, budget example, 11 USA Government Grants (database), 38 USDA, libraries and, 70

## V

vendors, as grant resource, 23 Vigo County Public Library (IN), 70 volunteer opportunities, 66

### W

Williamsburg (VA) Community Health Foundation, 70 Winning Library Grants: A Game Plan (Landau), 7 writers, team member role, 30 writing and editing assistance, 25 Writing for a Good Cause, 36 writing organizations, 19

# You may also be interested in



# alastore.ala.org





AMERICAN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION / alastore.ala.org 50 E. Huron Street, Chicago, IL 60611 1 (866) SHOPALA (866) 746-7252

